IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE REYNOLDS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\*CASE NO. 75,832

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL J. MINERVA ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #92487 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

####

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Jurisdiction in this case is based upon Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution, which grants this Court the authority to review any decision of a district court of appeal that passes upon a question certified by it to be of great public importance. The first district court certified the following two questions as being of great public importance:

> WHETHER IT IS PROPER FOR POLICE TO HANDCUFF A PERSON WHOM THEY ARE TEMPORARILY DETAIN-ING?

WHETHER A PERSON'S CONSENT TO SEARCH CAN LEGALLY BE VOLUNTARY IF GIVEN WHILE HAND-CUFFED DURING TEMPORARY DETAINMENT?

The opinion of the district court is styled <u>Reynolds v.</u> <u>State</u>, \_\_So.2d\_\_, Case No. 89-234, 15 FLW D678 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). A copy of the opinion is included in an appendix.

References to the documents and transcript in the consecutively numbered record will be designated "R".

-1-

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A. Trial Court

John Parsons, a Tallahassee vice investigator, worked with a confidential informer equipped with a wireless transmitter to discover evidence of drug transactions. Parsons had used the informer frequently and the information supplied was always reliable. (R 55-58).

On October 13, 1988 the informer was in the Ebony Lounge, known for consumption and sale of crack cocaine, and Parson was in a nearby location. The informer transmitted that a vehicle was arriving to distribute cocaine to dealers at the lounge. A female got out of the car, distributed cocaine in a series of transactions, reentered the car, and the car drove away. The female still had cocaine on her person when she left and there was other cocaine in the car. (R 58-61).

Parsons alerted other officers and the car was spotted and followed. Eventually the car stopped at a gas station. As petitioner, who was driving, stepped out of the car the officers who had converged on the stopped car detained him with handcuffs. (R 62-63).

According to Parsons the police identified themselves, told petitioner he was under arrest, and placed handcuffs on him. (R 64). The reason for handcuffing, aside from probable cause to arrest, was:

> It's a standard operating procedure for us, under circumstances involving crack or these types of felonies, because of the reports of automatic weapons and the heavy shootings that we observe and also hear

about or witness, that we just don't take those risks.

And every time we make a stop, they are handcuffed, really, if for no other reason, for safety for them and us.

And that's the first thing that happens. We want control over the situation. And then when it's stabilized, we go from there. (R 65).

The informant had not mentioned that anyone other than the woman was in the car or that the woman was armed. Parsons did not know who petitioner was when the stop was made. (R 77).

Officer McDaris was assisting in the drug investigation. She was in an unmarked police car when she heard the description of the car described by Officer Parsons. She saw and followed that car until it stopped at a gas and food store. (R 79-82). Officers Parsons, Hendry, and McDaris approached the stopped car and after petitioner got out McDaris told him to put his hands on the car and she then handcuffed him. She did that because:

> Since I've been doing, you know, the Crack Squad and the cocaine stuff, I have seen guns and I've gotten hurt.

> In March, I had tried to detain someone that wasn't under arrest yet, and ended up with a dislocated shoulder. He knocked down two police officers and me, and drug me down the street.

> With the guns and the knives and the whole aspect of what's been going on with the crack cocaine, it's become procedure with the Crack Squad that when we detain somebody, we handcuff every person that we detain, for our own safety. (R 83).

> > -3-

After petitioner was detained, McDaris turned to the female in the car and Officer Hendry stayed with petitioner. McDaris heard petitioner give Hendry permission to search him. (R 84). Cocaine and marijuana were found during that search. (R 85).

Officer Hendry's report was introduced in evidence without objection. (R 88) (State's Exhibit 1, R 25). In part the report stated:

> This officer assisted Inv. McDaris (683) and Inv. Parsons (511) with the traffic stop of a 1988 Chevy Corsica 4d white FL# YEI-96S at the Shell station.

Both cuffed the driver: Willie Reynolds and turned him to me to be placed in my marked car. I advised him that this was a narcotics investigations (sic) and a more detailed explanation would be provided shortly. I patted him down for weapons with negative results.

I then asked permission to search his pockets telling him that he had the right to refuse. He said twice that I could search him and "go ahead." I then pulled two (2) coin bags of suspect cannabis from his front left upper jacket. Suspect then said "no-I don't want you to search me." I told him that he was under arrest. (State's Exhibit One, R-25).

As a result of the search petitioner was charged in the Circuit Court of Leon County with possession of cocaine with intent to sell and possession of less than 20 grams of cannabis. (R 1). Petitioner moved to suppress the evidence, contending it was seized during a period of illegal detention. (R 19-20).

-4-

The petitioner argued in the trial court that the drugs should be suppressed because:

[The police] went beyond the kind of detention contemplated by the stop and frisk statute. They handcuffed Mr. Reynolds. They, in effect arrested him. They went beyond detention. They arrested him.

And what I'm saying is that this consent to search was the product of that ....

\* \* \*

What I'm saying is, you can't arrest somebody when you only have a reasonable suspicion. And they went beyond the kind of detention contemplated by a reasonable suspicion.

\* \* \*

But my whole argument is that they went beyond the kind of detention contemplated by Florida Statutes, and by the supreme court, for that matter, when we talk about stop and frisk. And what they had done was, they had illegally arrested him and this consent to search was the product of that illegal arrest, and therefore, it's invalid. (R 96-98).

The judge denied the motion and stated his reasons as follows:

I think the problem in this case is the handcuffing prior to asking any questions or anything else.

But I believe the officer testified that in their view, the person is not under arrest.

Now, whether that is or not, I don't know. To me, it's very clear that if Mr. Reynolds was not placed under arrest, just got out of the car, was asked to get out of the car, show his ID, so forth and so on, then they ask him if they can search him, and he says yes, yeah, there's no problem, it's a consentual(sic) search. We don't have a problem. The fact that the -- and I'm not aware of any cases. This is apparently new policy by TPD, and I'm not sure if I've seen it in other states, although it would seem that it might be a policy in some of your metropolitan areas. I don't know. I just haven't seen a case on it. I think that it's basically a consentual(sic) search. I don't think the fact that he is handcuffed takes away from the fact that it's a consentual(sic) search.

I would say this: If they don't ask him, and just search him, I think you've probably got a bad search, under the facts of this case. But once he gave consent to search, then I think they were well within their rights to do so.

\* \* \*

So based upon that rationale and based upon a finding that they had the probable cause to stop the car, and once he gave consent that it became a valid search, regardless of whether or not he was handcuffed.

They could have asked him, regardless of whether he was handcuffed or not, whether he agreed to be searched. And if he had said no, then they wouldn't have been able to search him, validly, from my view, in either circumstance. (R 98-100).

The motion to suppress was denied and petitioner pled no contest to the lesser offense of possession of cocaine, reserving the right to appeal the suppression issue. (R 98, 106-106). The state agreed to nol pross the possession of cannabis charge.

Petitioner was adjudged guilty and sentenced to three years in the department of corrections. Over petitioner's objection, the judge also imposed a period of one year probation following the prison term. Pending violation of probation charges in other cases were disposed of by the judge finding

-6-

petitioner had violated probation but then terminating the probation. (R 106-117).

# B. Appellate court

Appeal was taken to the first distict court to review (1) the denial of the motion to suppress and, (2) the imposition of probation following a prison sentence. The court affirmed both rulings.

The search was upheld with a finding that the police policy of handcuffing suspected drug dealers was not unreasonable, and consequently the consent given while petitioner was handcuffed was valid. The court said that "Because of the high incidence of weapons associated with cocaine trafficking, particularly in light of the irrationality that this drug produces, we ... find that the legality of [petitioner's] temporary detainment was not vitiated by having been handcuffed during it." (Citations omitted) (Appendix at 4). From that holding the court further concluded that since the "handcuffed temporary detainment [was] valid, it follows that the voluntariness of [petitioner's] consent to search was not compromised by the use of handcuffs alone." Ibid.

The probationary split sentence also was affirmed, on the authority of <u>Poore v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1988). Judge Zehmer, concurring specially, agreed with the ruling on the suppression issue, but would have also certified as of great public importance the probationary split sentence question, as another panel of that court had done in <u>Glass v. State</u>, 15 FLW D299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), review pending, case no. 75,600

-7-

The two questions certified by the majority are:

WHETHER IT IS PROPER FOR POLICE TO HANDCUFF A PERSON WHOM THEY ARE TEMPORARILY DETAIN-ING.

WHETHER A PERSON'S CONSENT TO SEARCH CAN LEGALLY BE VOLUNTARY IF GIVEN WHILE HAND-CUFFED DURING TEMPORARY DETAINMENT.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

ISSUE I. The petitioner was detained on less than probable cause and thus could not have been subjected to a search incident to arrest. By handcuffing petitioner without facts supporting a reasonable basis for doing so, the police exceeded the scope of a lawful seizure incident to a detention under Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

The trial judge erroneously upheld the search by ruling that the fact of being handcuffed without probable cause did not affect the voluntariness of the consent to be searched. In making that ruling the judge failed to apply the correct legal standard, which requires voluntary consent to be established by clear and convincing evidence when the suspect is illegally detained.

The district court's affirmance was based on a blanket rule that suspected drug traffickers can be handcuffed incident to a Terry stop. That rule is not supported by any case and is inconsistent with the requirements of <u>Terry</u> and its progeny that the scope of the intrusion must be limited to what is reasonably necessary under the circumstances.

This court should disapporve the per se rule adopted by the district court and reafffirm the doctrine that reasonableness of a seizure under <u>Terry v. Ohio</u> must be evaluated by the totality of circumstances.

If the correct principles had been applied here, the search should have been ruled unconstitutional under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments. No facts were presented to justify a

-9-

reasonable belief that petitioner was armed, or that handcuffing was otherwise reasonable under the circumstances, thus petitioner was illegally seized.

Since the trial and district courts both found that the custody was legal, neither of them addressed the voluntariness of consent. But the consent, given while petitioner was illegally seized, was the product of the illegal custody. In that situation the state was required to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the taint of the illegal custody was dissipated. Norman v. State, 379 So.2d 643 (Fla. 1980). The evidence was insufficient to meet that standard and the purported consent should have been ruled involuntary.

Issue II. The sentence of incarceration followed by probation violated double jeopardy. The legislature has the exclusive authority to determine punishment for categories of crimes. The courts do not. The Double Jeopardy Clauses of the state and federal constitutions prohibit the courts from imposing more punishment than the legislature authorizes. The legislature did not authorize the probationary split sentence and therefore the imposition of both incarceration and probation as a probationary split sentence violated double jeopardy.

This issue is now before this Court in <u>Glass v. State</u>, case no. 75,600, on a certified question from the first district court of appeal.

-10-

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE FOURTH AMENDMENT DOES NOT PERMIT A PER SE RULE THAT ALL PERSONS SUSPECTED OF DRUG TRAFFICKING MAY BE HANDCUFFED WHEN DETAINED FOR INVESTIGATION ON LESS THAN PROBABLE CAUSE AND THEREFOR CONSENT TO SEARCH IS PRESUMPTIVELY TAINTED IF GIVEN DURING A PERIOD OF ILLEGAL DETENTION IN HANDCUFFS.

### Introduction

The issue is narrow. Petitioner conceded there was founded suspicion to stop the car and to question him. The police, however, exceeded the limits of a proper stop when they handcuffed him without having probable cause for arrest. The consent obtained while petitioner was handcuffed was tainted by the illegal custody and no intervening event broke the chain of illegality.

In the trial court the judge mistakenly ruled that being handcuffed had no bearing on whether the consent to search was valid, saying that "once he gave consent ... it became a valid search, regardless of whether or not he was handcuffed." (R 100). That ruling overlooked the principle, to be discussed later, that illegal custody taints consent.

On appeal, the district court did not find the custody illegal, and consequently did not rule on whether the illegality of the custody nullified consent.

## A. Handcuffing

The trial judge properly stopped short of ruling that there was probable cause to arrest petitioner. There was not. The informer had not mentioned anyone except the woman in the

-11-

car; nor was there any evidence that petitioner participated in the drug transactions or had knowledge of the presence of drugs in the car. Inferentially, if not explicitly, the judge ruled that the police could not have made a valid arrest with the information then available when he said "If they don't ask him, and just search him, I think you've probably got a bad search...." (R 99).

The officers themselves did not claim to be making a search incident to arrest. The reason for handcuffing petitioner was a policy adopted by the "Crack Squad" of handcuffing nearly every person they detained for questioning. Petitioner argued in the trial court that the policy exceeds the permissible scope of detention without probable cause.

The district court agreed with the police, applying a broad rule that handcuffing incident to detention without probable cause was justified simply because petitioner was suspected of cocaine trafficking. Neither the cases cited by the district court nor any other authority supports that sweeping pronouncement.

It is tempting to mount a soap box to preach about the loss of individual privacy rights caused by the war on drugs. Those arguments have been made eloquently elsewhere. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g</u>. <u>Bostick v. State</u>, 554 So.2d 1153, 1158-59 (Fla. 1989); <u>State v.</u> <u>Avery</u>, 531 So.2d 182 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) (en banc); id. at 188 (Letts, J., concurring); id. at 188-194 (Glickstein, J., concurring and dissenting); id. at 194-199 (Anstead, J., dissenting). But on the other hand the state, in soap box

-12-

rebuttal, could regale the court with countervailing examples of police officers being killed or wounded by detained suspects. Indeed, Officer McDaris testified about her own injuries while detaining someone.

The United States Supreme Court recognized those competing interests when it decided in <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1 (1968) that detention on less than probable cause did not violate the Fourth Amendment; but incident to that detention the police were allowed to conduct only "a carefully limited search of the outer clothing of such persons in an attempt to discover weapons which might be used to assault [them]." <u>Id</u>. at 30-31. <u>Terry</u> did not authorize physically seizing the person except for a pat down to disclose the presence of weapons. <u>Accord</u>, <u>Sibron v. New York</u>, 392 U.S. 40 (1968) (disapproving search of detained suspect to look for drugs).

Florida codified the <u>Terry</u> decision in Section 901.151, Florida Statutes. The police are limited to a search for weapons when detaining a suspect for questioning. Even when a valid stop is made, police violate the Fourth Amendment by "conduct ... more intrusive than necessary to effectuate an investigative detention otherwise authorized by the Terry line of cases." Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 504 (1983).

Without probable cause to arrest or a reasonable basis to believe weapons were present, the police had no right to place petitioner in handcuffs as if he had been arrested. The physical seizure of the whole person greatly exceeded the scope of an authorized protective pat down for weapons. Even if

-13-

handcuffing was a reasonable initial response, it was not permissible after the frisk by Officer Hendry. His pat down for weapons had negative results, yet the petitioner remained in handcuffs when asked for consent to search.

In <u>Royer</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court explained the limited nature of the seizure allowed by a Terry stop, saying:

> The predicate permitting seizures on suspicion short of probable cause is that law enforcement interests warrant a limited intrusion on the personal security of the suspect. The scope of the intrusion permitted will vary to some extent with the particular facts and circumstances of each This much, however, is clear; an case. investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop. Similarly, the investigative methods employed should be the least intrusive means reasonably available to verify or dispel the officer's suspicion in a short period of time. [Citations omitted]. It is the State's burden to demonstrate that the seizure it seeks to justify on the basis of a reasonable suspicion was sufficiently limited in scope and duration to satisfy the conditions of an investigative seizure. (Emphasis added).

460 U.S. at 500.

The state's efforts to justify handcuffing were of a general rather than specific nature. The police had no information about weapons on the person of the petitioner or the female with him in the car. The explanation for the seizure was based on references, some of them vague, to experiences with drug dealers as a whole. No specific facts were given to support a reasonable belief that petitioner was armed or otherwise a threat to the officer's safety.

-14-

The courts have not allowed the police to violate privacy rights based on generalized assertions about drug dealers when they have no knowledge that the individual being confronted may be armed. <u>E.g. Roundtree v. State</u>, 544 So.2d 1101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (state failed to present evidence to support "officer peril" exception to the knock and announce requirement); <u>King v. State</u>, 371 So.2d 120, 122 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (neither defendant was seen armed, "consequently no reasonable belief existed that the officers' peril would have increased had they first demanded entrance"); <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 1297, 1298 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) (the testimony that "we knew we had a drug dealer supposed to be carrying a stolen gun to protect his drugs ... [was] entirely too vague" to support an exception to the knock and announce requirements).

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