30

## IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

WILLIE REYNOLDS,

PETITIONER,

-vs-

CASE NO. 75,832

REME COURT

Dam

W Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

**RESPONDENT**.

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

VIRLINDIA DOSS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL ATTORNEY NO. 607894 THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent is in substantial agreement with petitioner's statement of the case and facts with the following additions and exceptions:

1. The State initially charged petitioner by information with possession of cocaine with intent to sell and possession of less than 20 grams of cannabis. (R 1).

2. Petitioner's statement that, on appeal, "[t]he search was upheld with a finding that the police policy of handcuffing suspected drug dealers was not unreasonable. . . ." (Petitioner's brief at 7) is not quite accurate. The propriety of any general policy of the police department was not at issue. The Court's opinion is addressed only to the case at bar

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Police may properly handcuff a suspect whom they are temporarily detaining if they reasonably believe such action is necessary for their protection. The police here had such a reasonable belief, based on their experience and that of others in other, similar situations. Numerous courts have recognized the propensity for violence inherent in narcotics trafficking investigations. Given this reasonable belief, the police were justified in taking steps to temporarily "immobilize" the situation. Since the action by police was legal and appropriate, the petitioner's subsequent consent to search was voluntary and valid.

The split sentence issue, although not certified by the lower court, is pending before this Court in **Glass v. State**, Case No. 75,600, and will be controlled by the Court's decision in that case. In addition to the arguments advanced in **Glass**, respondent submits that the Florida Legislature has authorized probationary split sentences. This Court so interpreted language in Sec. 948.01(4), Fla.Stat., thirteen years ago and, although the Legislature subsequently amended the statute they have never altered that language.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

## WHETHER IT IS PROPER FOR POLICE TO HANDCUFF A PERSON WHOM THEY ARE TEMPORARILY DETAINING.

The question as framed by the District Court does not lend itself to a yes or no answer. The line between an investigative stop and an arrest cannot be determined by any per se rule. United States v. Sharpe, 470 U.S. 675 (1985). On this much respondent and petitioner are in agreement. Instead, the focus must be on whether the action taken by the police was reasonable. United States v. Kapperman, 764 F.2d 786, 790 fn. 4 (11th Cir.1985). In making that assessment,

> it is imperative that the facts be judged against an objective standard: would the facts available to the officer at the moment of the seizure or the search "warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief" that the action taken was appropriate?

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21-22 (1968). Respondent submits that in view of the known dangers surrounding the detention and arrest of suspected large scale cocaine traffickers, it will frequently be reasonable for officers to handcuff such persons when they have been temporarily detained, even though probable cause for arrest does not yet exist. As the Terry Court observed:

It does not follow that because an officer may lawfully arrest a person

only when he is apprised of facts sufficient to warrant a belief that the person has committed or is committing a crime, officer equally the is unjustified, absent that kind of in making any intrusions evidence, short of an arrest. Moreover, а perfectly reasonable apprehension of danger may arise long before the officer is possessed of adequate information to justify taking a person into custody for the purpose of prosecuting him for a crime.

Terry, supra, at 26-27.

Petitioner errs in characterizing the district court's opinion in this case as an "announced rule that as a matter of law all drug trafficking suspects can be handcuffed incident to a Terry stop." (Brief of Petitioner at 17).<sup>1</sup> In fact, the courts below did no more than find the officers' expressed concern for their safety to be a reasonable one, warranting reasonable protective measures. Just as the Terry Court recognized that "American criminals have a long tradition of armed violence. . . " (Terry, supra, at 23) the First District recognized the "high incidence of weapons associated with cocaine trafficking" and the "irrationality" the drug produces. Reynolds v. State, 15 F.L.W. D678 (Fla.1st DCA 1990).

- 4 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> He similarly incorrectly accuses the trial court of "applying a broad rule that handcuffing incident to detention without probable cause was justified simply because petitioner was suspected of cocaine trafficking." (Petitioner's brief at 12).

acknowledgment of the dangers associated with Such suspected large scale drug traffickers is not unique. In State v. Sayers, 459 So.2d 352 (Fla.3rd DCA 1984), rev.den., 471 So.2d 44 (Fla.1985), the Court said "it is not necessary that the agents have direct information that a person to be frisked is armed . . . a law enforcement agent may reasonably believe that a person engaged in a transaction prospectively involving a large quantity of narcotics and large sums of money is likely to be armed to protect the drugs, the money, or himself." Id., at 353. In that case the Third District Court of Appeal cited United States v. Oates, 560 F.2d 45 (2d Cir.1977). In Oates, the Court upheld a protective frisk based on their recognition that to substantial dealers in narcotics, firearms are "tools of the trade." Id., at 62. Indeed, that court pointed out that under Terry, supra, "the belief that the subject may be armed can be predicated on the nature of the criminal activity involved." (Emphasis supplied). See also, State v. Lewis, 518 So.2d 406, 408, fn. 3 (Fla.3rd DCA 1988) and cases cited therein.

The circumstances here involve the operations of a special police "Crack Squad" (R 56) which was specifically avoiding "the smaller, one and two-rock people" and looking for larger dealers. (R 59-60). In addition to the judicial recognition of increased potential for danger in such cases already discussed by respondent these officers had personal experience to justify the precaution of handcuffing:

- 5 -

#### Officer Parsons stated,

It's a standard operating procedure for us, under circumstances involving crack or these types of felonies, because of the reports of automatic weapons and the heavy shootings that we observe and also hear about or witness, that we just don't take those risks.

And every time we make a stop, they are handcuffed, really, if for no other reason, for safety for them and us.

And that's the first thing that happens. We want control over the situation. And then when it's stabilized, we go from there.

\*

\*

\*

Well, Ι was trained that, the statistically, probability of violence from any person towards a officer police rose significantly whenever they were under the influence of any kind of drugs.

Certainly, with cocaine, it's been my experience that we experience on a regular basis very intense, violent resistance many times immediately upon contact in a restraining or apprehension situation.

To my knowledge, we find more weapons, and in my experience, more weapons and investigate more shootings related to crack, currently, than any other crime I'm aware of, any other circumstance that law enforcement would have contact with suspects, felonies or misdemeanors.

(R 65-55).

Officer McDaris stated:

Since I've been doing, you know, the Crack Squad and the cocaine stuff, I have seen guns and I've gotten hurt.

In March, I had tried to detain someone that wasn't under arrest yet, and ended up with a dislocated shoulder. He knocked down two police officers and me, and drug me down the street.

With the guns and the knives and the whole aspect of what's been going on with the crack cocaine, it's become procedure with the Crack Squad that when we detain somebody, we handcuff every person that we detain, for our own safety.

(R 83).

Petitioner suggests that the officers' past experience and training is not enough to allow them to reasonably believe what the Courts in Sayers and Oates took judicial notice of: that an officer about to detain a suspected large scale crack dealer is exposing himself to considerable risk. Petitioner argues that the police must have some further, more "direct" information which indicates that this particular suspect is not simply dangerous, but is in fact armed. He cites three "knock and announce" cases: Roundtree v. State, 544 So.2d 1101 (Fla.1st DCA 1989); King v. State, 371 So.2d 120 (Fla.1st DCA 1978); Rodriguez v. State, 484 So.2d 1297 (Fla.3rd DCA 1986) to support, by analogy, his argument.

The fact that two of the three cases cited came from the very court which upheld the officers' actions in this case is the first indicator that the analogy is inapposite. The two

- 7 -

situations simply cannot be compared. The "knock and announce" statute, Sec. 933.09, Fla.Stat. (1989), speaks to situations where officers are serving warrants. Under such circumstances the police will presumably have some knowledge as to what they are getting into and can prepare themselves accordingly in advance, e.g. through additional backup officers, bullet proof vests, having their guns drawn and at the ready, etc. It makes sense that a belief of danger based on less than direct observation would not be accepted as reasonable by the courts under such circumstances. The officer conducting a stop and frisk does not have the luxury of advance planning. He must be allowed to use the filter of his generalized knowledge, training and experience on the specific facts known to him at that moment to decide whether it is necessary to temporarily "freeze" the situation while he gathers more information.

The notion that police must have some sort of "direct" knowledge of the dangerousness of an individual was rejected in Oates, supra.

> We are in full agreement with Judge Friendly's remarks in United States v. Santana, supra at 368, that "[w]hile [a narcotics agent may have] received no specific information that [a narcotics dealer or his companion] was armed, it unreasonable would not be for policeman to assume that a man believed to be one of the top narcotics violators in [a major metropolitan] area [or his companion] would be carrying arms or would be otherwise As did Judge Friendly in violent." Santana, the Supreme Court in Terry v.

Ohio indicated that, despite the fact police officer has that the not personally observed a weapon or any physical indication, such as a bulge, that would indicate the presence of a weapon, the belief of the police officer that the suspect may be armed and dangerous can be predicated on the criminal nature of the activity Finally, we believe that involved. inherent in Terry v. Ohio is the notion the standard of suspicion that necessary to allow a frisk for weapons is not a difficult one to satisfy, for even if "'the belief that [the suspect] might be carrying a weapon rested upon fragile grounds' . . . courts should sufficient not set the test of suspicion that the individual is 'armed and presently dangerous' too high when protection of the investigating officer is at stake."

Oates, supra, at 62-63. Respondent submits that knowledge outside the particular circumstances of an arrest can and must have a bearing on whether an officer has a reasonable belief that a suspect presents a danger to his life and limbs. Compare Wilson v. State, 547 So.2d 215 (Fla.4th DCA 1989) where the court noted that handcuffing

> was a standard precaution used for the protection of the officers and others when securing an area under these circumstances. The department's experience had shown that under these conditions aggressive behavior and resistance by those at the scene was not uncommon, and that there was a likelihood of firearms being present.

Wilson, supra, at 216 (emphasis supplied). Officers must be permitted to take reasonable measures to assure their safety and should not be expected to "await the glint of steel" before

- 9 -

doing so. New York v. Allen, 538 N.E.2d 323 (Ct.App. N.Y. 1989). "Common sense and ordinary human experience" guide the courts in deciding whether an investigative detention is reasonable. Terry, supra, at 685. Law enforcement officers must also be permitted to use these resources in making decisions which could cost them their lives.

Once a reasonable belief of danger is established, it is clear that handcuffing, or other displays of force or authority, can be involved in effectuating a temporary detention without turning the detention into an arrest.

In finding that police had the right to display a weapon where necessary to make a stop, the Second District Court of Appeal noted, in State v. Perera, 412 So.2d 867, 871 (Fla.2d DCA 1982) "the United States Supreme Court, in defining the concept of a temporary stop, has indicated that it can involve the display of force or authority." Id., citing Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143 (1972); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 19 (1968). In United States v. Bautista, 684 F.2d 1286 (9th Cir.1982), cert.den., 459 U.S. 1211 (1983), the Court states, "[a] brief but complete restriction of liberty, if not excessive under the circumstances, is permissible during a Terry stop and does not necessarily convert the stop into an arrest."

In **Bautista**, **supra**, handcuffing was found reasonable where the two suspects were believed to have robbed a bank, they

- 10 -

appeared extremely nervous, Bautista kept pacing back and forth as if he were thinking of running, the third robber may still have been in the vicinity, and "[t]he handcuffs eliminated the possibility of an assault or escape attempt during the questioning, particularly if an arrest became imminent." The Court also emphasized the <u>nature</u> of the crime in finding the action reasonable.

In Harper v. State, 532 So.2d 1091 (Fla.3rd DCA 1988) handcuffing the defendant and forcing him to lie face down on the ground was found to be reasonable and not an arrest. There, Harper was found in a crack house standing near a kitchen counter where cocaine, as well as a butane torch were in plain view.

In Wilson, supra, the defendant was simply standing on the front porch of a house which was the subject of a search warrant. The court found the handcuffing reasonable, noting the "chilling" statistics on the number of Florida law enforcement officers shot and killed, or otherwise seriously injured in the line of duty.

In case after case, the courts of Florida, other states and the federal system have found that the use of handcuffs or other force or authority during a brief temporary detention was reasonably supported by officers' fears for their safety. See, Lewis v. State, 518 So.2d 406 (Fla.3rd DCA 1988) (Motorist

- 11 -

stopped by officers with guns drawn, at 2:00 a.m. outside a residence where a crack buy had just occurred was not "arrested."); Ruiz v. State, 526 So.2d 170 (Fla.3rd DCA 1988) (No "arrest" where officer approached, with gun drawn, a car parked outside home where drug bust was proceeding and ordered driver to exit vehicle and lie face down.); United States v. Glenna, 878 F.2d 967 (7th Cir.1989) (Teletype information that suspect was in possession of several armed weapons and an explosive device, plus discovery of a loaded clip in suspect's pocket justified handcuffing suspect to preserve officer's safety. Handcuffing did not turn detention into an arrest.); Howard v. Alaska, 664 P.2d 603 (Alaska App. 1983) (Handcuffing of sexual assault suspects not arrest given violent nature of crime, purpose of maintaining the status quo while conducing the investigation, potential of accomplices hiding in nearby woods, information that suspects were armed, brevity of detention and number of suspects compared to officers.); Washington v. Belieu, 773 P.2d 46 (Wash.1989) (Police awareness that weapons had been burglarized from homes in the area justified officer in drawing of gun before ordering four burglary suspects out of their vehicle.); New York v. Allen, 538 N.E.2d 323 (Ct.App. N.Y. 1989) (Officers justified in handcuffing robbery suspect believed to be armed in dark alley, to take him to a safer place to conduct pat down.); Illinois v. Waddell, 546 N.E.2d 1068 (Ill.4th DCA 1989) (Police action was reasonable and detention was not elevated to arrest where police had probable cause, based on

- 12 -

informant's tip to believe vehicle was transporting cocaine. Police stopped vehicle and handcuffed Waddell who subsequently validly consented to search of automobile.) As noted by Professor LaFave:

> [I]t cannot be said that whenever draw weapons the resulting police seizure must be deemed an arrest rather than a stop and thus may be upheld only probable if full cause was then The courts have rather present. consistently upheld such police conduct when the circumstances (e.g., suspicion that the occupants of a car are the persons who just committed an armed robbery) indicated it that was а for the precaution reasonable and protection safety of the investigating officers.

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